RECEIVED

FEB 05 2010

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable George C. James Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2016-002409

Michael Weatherspoon,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

---

REPLY TO RESPONDENT'S RETURN

---

Arie D. Bax  
The Bax Law Firm, PA  
2 Merchants Lane, Suite 210  
Beaufort, SC 29907  
(843) 522-0980  
[arie.baxlaw@gmail.com](mailto:arie.baxlaw@gmail.com)  
Attorney for the Petitioner

DeShawn H. Mitchell  
Assistant Attorney General  
Office of the SC Attorney General  
PO Box 11549

## INTRODUCTION

Petitioner files this Reply to Respondent's Return to Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

Petitioner based his Petition for writ of Certiorari on the following five issues:

1. Did the PCR judge err in finding that Petitioner's plea counsel was not ineffective for failing to request that the plea be stood aside or discontinued prior to its acceptance by the court due to Petitioner's clear statements that he did not understand the parameters of his plea?
2. Did the PCR judge err in finding that Petitioner's plea counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the plea court's *sua sponte* decision to shift the plea from a straight guilty plea to a plea made pursuant to NC v. Alford without consultation with the parties?
3. Did the PCR judge err in finding that Petitioner's plea counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the plea court's persistent, repetitive, and inappropriate questioning of the Petitioner in a clear attempt to get the Petitioner to change his responses?
4. Did the PCR judge err in finding that Petitioner's counsel was not ineffective for failing to make a motion for mistrial followed by a motion to bar further prosecution pursuant to the US Constitutional bar against Double Jeopardy prior to advising his client to plead guilty?
5. Did the PCR judge err in finding that Petitioner was not entitled to a belated appeal based on plea counsel's failure to file a Notice of Intent to Appeal on Petitioner's behalf pursuant to *White v. State*?

In response, Respondent contended that the Certiorari is not warranted because: 1) four of the five arguments Petitioner attempts to raise in this Petition for Writ of Certiorari are not preserved for appellate review because they were neither raised nor ruled upon by the PCR court. Respondent makes the alternative argument in the issues presented after that that even if they were preserved, Petitioner failed to meet his burden under Strickland v. Washington in showing ineffective assistance and prejudice. Petitioner submits that the prejudice prong is the main thrust of these arguments by Respondent.

Petitioner asserts that Respondent is incorrect and that these issues were in fact raised and ruled upon by the PCR court. Additionally, Respondent's arguments against Certiorari because Petitioner failed to establish prejudice are incorrect because they completely ignore the ruling by the U.S. Supreme Court in Lee v. United States cited in the Standard of Review section of the Petition and thus, are not sufficient to defeat certiorari.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Petitioner incorporates by reference the facts as stated in his Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

### **ARGUMENT**

Petitioner hereby incorporates all arguments submitted in his Petition for Certiorari. Additionally, Petitioner would like to address Respondent's arguments that Certiorari is not warranted because: 1) Four of the five arguments Petitioner attempts to raise in this Petition for Writ of Certiorari are not preserved for appellate review because they were neither raised nor ruled upon by the PCR court. Petitioner will address each of the four arguments in order.

As to Petitioner's first issue, that 'the PCR judge erred in finding that the Petitioner's plea counsel was not ineffective for failing to request that the plea be stood aside or discontinued prior to its acceptance by the court due to Petitioner's clear statements that he did not understand the parameters of the guilty plea', Petitioner submits that the issue was raised through direct and cross examination of the witnesses by Petitioner's PCR counsel, Mr. Johnson, and argued in closing to the PCR Court and that the PCR Court

specifically ruled on the issue both orally on the record at the hearing as well as in the written order. In direct examination by Mr. Johnson, Petitioner testified that he did not know what a plea pursuant to Alford was. App. p. 54, ll. 11-15. Petitioner also testified that he never discussed an Alford plea with his trial counsel and that the plea was never stopped in order to allow him to discuss these new developments with his attorney. App. p.54, l. 25, p. 55, ll. 1-6. As is cited in the Petition, Petitioner's trial counsel testified that he did not discuss what an Alford plea was because he did not know the plea was going to become an Alford plea. App. p. 83, ll. 5-25. Petitioner's PCR counsel then specifically argues the issues relating to the surprise Alford plea and the clear lack of voluntariness of the plea as a result. App p. 92, ll. 10-25, p. 93, ll. 1-3. Finally, the PCR court discusses the issue of the voluntariness of the plea with counsel for the state at the PCR hearing. App. P. 94, ll. 15-24. Further, the court expresses concern about the free and voluntary nature of Petitioner's plea. App. p. 95, ll. 15-22.

The court made a ruling on the issue of Petitioner's lack of understanding as to the nature of an Alford plea on page 6 of the written order dismissing Petitioner's PCR application. The PCR court ruled that, despite not knowing what an Alford plea was, the plea was still knowingly and intelligently entered because the court interpreted from the record that the Petitioner wanted this good sentencing deal. App. p. 109.

When the court examines each of these areas of the record, it will be clear that the issue presented in Petitioner's first question presented is more than adequately raised, argued, and ruled upon in order to be preserved to be reviewed by this court.

As to Petitioner's second issue, did the judge "err in finding that Petitioner's plea counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the plea court's *sua sponte* decision to shift the plea from a straight guilty plea to a plea made pursuant to NC v. Alford without consultation with the parties", once again, as referenced as above, Petitioner's PCR counsel Mr. Johnson elicited testimony in direct as well as cross-examination that both Petitioner and his trial counsel were unaware that the trial judge was going to shift the plea to a Alford plea. The areas cited above illustrate this as well. Petitioner testified at the PCR hearing that no one stopped the plea at any time. App. p. 54-55, ll. 25-6. Petitioner's trial counsel testified that there was no discussion of an Alford plea by any party or the Court before the plea because he was unaware such was even a possibility until it happened during the plea. However, trial counsel did not testify that he objected to this despite acknowledging that his client could not know what an Alford plea was. App. p. 83-84, ll. 6-6; App. p. 85, ll. 8-17. The transcript of the plea confirms that no objection was even attempted. Petitioner's PCR counsel argues that the plea was involuntary because Petitioner did not know what an Alford plea was. App. p. 99, ll. 6-13. The ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to protect his client from this where he testified he was well aware and chose to do nothing is clearly implicated and inexorably intertwined with this argument and is thus preserved. This is further demonstrated by the fact that the court addresses this issue in its order by affirmatively finding that trial counsel "would have been ineffective had he tried to have the plea vacated based on his client's ignorance of Alford." App. p. 109. This issue is preserved for appellate review.

Third, as to Petitioner's third question presented, 'did the PCR judge err in finding that Petitioner's plea counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the plea court's

persistent, repetitive, and inappropriate questioning of the Petitioner in a clear attempt to get the Petitioner to change his responses?’, Petitioner asserts that this issue is also preserved for appeal. During his direct testimony at the PCR hearing, Petitioner testifies that he tried to tell the Judge during his plea that he still believed a jury would not find him guilty based on the facts that were to be presented. App. p. 53, ll. 21-25, p. 54, ll. 1-4. The transcript of the plea corroborates the Petitioner’s testimony at the PCR hearing. In fact, the Petitioner specifically states in response to a question by the court as to whether he thinks the jury would agree with the State, “I would say, no, Your Honor, but that’s just my opinion”. App. p. 20, ll. 2-10. Additionally, the Plea Court’s questions of the Petitioner are so persistent that its last question misstates the proper standard for a NC v. Alford plea, saying “...but I’m asking you is there a reasonable – is it reasonable that a jury could agree with that?” to which the Petitioner finally says “I guess so.” App. p. 22, ll. 8-11. The problem is, the standard is whether the Petitioner agrees that the State has enough evidence to present that it makes his conviction at trial a substantial likelihood. Clearly the Petitioner would not agree with this standard. Finally, the PCR Court in its written order specifically rules that “there is absolutely no credible evidence that the applicant would not have pled guilty had he known exactly what an Alford plea was” and then the Court cites Kolle v. State. App. p. 109. However, it is Petitioner’s position that this ruling is clearly erroneous. The court’s ruling flies directly in the face of copious amounts of evidence in the record and the testimony of witnesses at the PCR hearing that the Petitioner wanted to go to trial and believed that he would be successful at trial. It is not enough that the plea court, the PCR court, and his attorney believed that he was getting a good deal. The only issue here was whether the Applicant believed that he wanted to go to trial. It is only after the plea court’s

repeated questions of the Petitioner to change his answers to the questions presented that the plea court barely got the plea through. As is argued in the Petition for Writ for Certiorari, the standard is not whether or not it was a good idea to continue to go to trial but only whether or not it was the Petitioner's choice to plead guilty or go to trial. Once again, Petitioner's trial counsel never denied at the PCR hearing that he never objected to, or tried to stop, the court's repeated questions regarding his opinion that the state could prevail at trial. Trial counsel did nothing to protect his client that he clearly heard state to the court that he could prevail at trial. It is clear and undenied by trial counsel that he felt it was more important for this plea to go through than to protect his client's free will. Therefore, the issue is preserved for appellate review.

Finally, as to Petitioner's fourth question presented, "[d]id the PCR judge err in finding that Petitioner's counsel was not ineffective for failing to make a motion for mistrial followed by a motion bar further prosecution pursuant to the US Constitutional bar against Double Jeopardy prior to advising his client to plead guilty?", as is argued in the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, while the Petitioner's PCR counsel did not specifically argue this issue to the PCR court, the court thought this issue had clearly been raised because the PCR court makes a point to specifically address this in its written decision. App. p. 108. As this appellate court is clearly aware, a specific finding by the lower court in a written order is always appealable whether the attorneys specifically addressed it in a hearing or not.