STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Greenville County  
Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable George C. James Jr., Circuit Court Judge

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appellate Case No. 2016-002409

MICHAEL WEATHERSPOON,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_  
**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**  
\_\_\_\_\_

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DESHAWN H. MITCHELL  
Assistant Attorney General  
SC Bar No. 101813

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**RECEIVED**

DEC 06 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

##

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. Four of the five arguments Petitioner attempts to raise in this Petition for Writ of Certiorari are not preserved for appellate review because they were neither raised nor ruled upon by the PCR court.**

Petitioner asserts the PCR judge erred in its finding in the following respects: (1) that Petitioner's plea counsel was not ineffective for failing to request that the plea be stood aside or discontinued prior to its acceptance by the court due to Petitioner's clear statements that he did not understand the parameters of his plea, (2) that plea counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the plea court's sua sponte decision to shift the plea from a straight guilty plea to a plea made pursuant to NC v. Alford without consultation with the parties, (3) that plea counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the plea court's persistent, repetitive, and inappropriate questioning of the Petitioner in a clear attempt to get the Petitioner to change his responses, and (4) that plea counsel was not ineffective for failing to make a motion for mistrial followed by a motion barring further prosecution pursuant to the US Constitutional bar against Double Jeopardy prior to advising his client to plead guilty. These arguments are without merit as they are not preserved for appellate review.

Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-80 (2003), the PCR judge must make specific findings of fact and state expressly the conclusions of law relating to each issue presented. The failure to specifically rule on the issues precludes appellate review of the issues. Pruitt v. State, 310 S.C. 254, 423 S.E.2d 127 (1992). In the present case, the PCR court did not address (1) whether Petitioner's plea counsel was ineffective for failing to request that the plea be stood aside or discontinued prior to its acceptance by the court due to Petitioner's clear statements that he did not understand the parameters of his plea, (2) whether plea counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the plea court's sua sponte decision to shift the plea from a straight guilty plea

to a plea made pursuant to NC v. Alford without consultation with the parties, (3) whether plea counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the plea court's persistent, repetitive, and inappropriate questioning of the Petitioner in a clear attempt to get the Petitioner to change his responses, and (4) whether plea counsel was ineffective for failing to make a motion for mistrial followed by a motion barring further prosecution pursuant to the US Constitutional bar against Double Jeopardy prior to advising his client to plead guilty. Accordingly, these issues are not preserved for this Court's review.

In Marlar v. State this court held the Applicant's failure to file a Rule 59 (e), SCRCP, motion asking post-conviction relief judge to make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law as to rejected post-conviction challenges rendered those challenges waived for appellate review, precluding further review on the merits. Marlar v. State 375 S.C. 407, 653 S.E. 2d 266 (2007)

This Court in Marlar concluded by stating “[c]ounsel preparing proposed orders should be meticulous in doing so, opposing counsel should call any omissions to the attention of the PCR judge prior to issuance of the order, and the PCR judge should carefully review the order prior to signing it. Even after an order is filed, counsel has an obligation to review the order and file a Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motion to alter or amend if the order fails to set forth the findings and the reasons for those findings as required by 17-27-80 and Rule 52(a), SCRCP.” Marlar, at 410, 653 S.E. 2d at 267. In the current case the four allegations made in Petitioner's petition were not ruled upon by the PCR judge and Petitioner failed to make the proper motion under Rule 59. Accordingly, the issues are not preserved for appellate review and should be dismissed.

The current case is similar to Marlar because Petitioner did not make a Rule 59(e) motion asking the PCR judge to rule on the specific allegations. Petitioner's arguments to this Court

claim plea counsel was ineffective for failing to take various specific actions during the plea. However, in the order from the PCR judge, the only issues ruled on were: (1) whether Petitioner's guilty plea was involuntary, (2) whether plea counsel was ineffective for failing to move to quash the indictment and (3) whether plea counsel was ineffective for failing to file a direct appeal. (App.p.105). None of the four specific allegations now made in this petition were addressed in the PCR order. Additionally, Petitioner did not make a 59(e) motion asking the PCR judge to make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law on his current allegations he now is attempting to raise for appellate review. Therefore, under Marlar's holding the current issues raise was not preserved for appellate review.

**II. Even if preserved, the PCR court properly denied Petitioner's application because Petitioner received the exact plea deal he bargained for.**

Notwithstanding any preservation concerns, Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof in showing plea counsel was ineffective for failing to request that the plea be stood aside or discontinued prior to its acceptance by the court due to Petitioner's clear statements that he did not understand the parameters of his plea. The PCR judge correctly found Petitioner received the exact plea deal he bargained for and therefore received effective assistance of counsel and suffered no prejudice. (App.p.109).

Moreover, the record reflects that when the solicitor read the facts of the case during the plea colloquy, Petitioner did not agree with them. (App.p.108). The plea judge then decided on his own he would accept the plea pursuant to North Carolina v. Alford, sentencing the Petitioner to fifteen years concurrent on both charges. (App.p.108). The PCR court found Petitioner was ignorant as to what an Alford plea was and trial counsel admitted he never discussed an Alford plea with Petitioner. (App.p.109). However, the PCR court found Petitioner wanted to plead guilty to get the benefit of a very good sentencing deal, i.e., the avoidance of a thirty year to life

sentence for murder in exchange for a negotiated sentence of only fifteen years. (App.p.109). The PCR court went on to note while the plea colloquy does not reflect the plea was initially presented as an Alford plea, it is abundantly clear that the Petitioner wanted to plead guilty and avoid a potential thirty year to life sentence. (App.p.109). Furthermore, plea counsel testified he explained to Petitioner the sentencing range for voluntary manslaughter. (App.p.77-78). Additionally, during the guilty plea colloquy Petitioner was advised that he could continue with his jury trial, that he had the right to confront witnesses, that he had the right to remain silent. (App.p.107). Petitioner testified to the plea judge that he understood those rights and wanted to give them up and plead guilty. (App.p.107). Moreover, there was no need for plea counsel to request that the plea be stood aside or discontinued as Petitioner got the deal he bargained for when he pled guilty. Accordingly, while this issue is not preserved for appellate review, Petitioner has also failed to show plea counsel was ineffective for failing to request that the plea be stood aside or discontinued prior to its acceptance by the court due to Petitioner's clear statements that he did not understand the parameters of his plea as additionally Petitioner has failed to show he suffered any prejudice.

**III. Even if preserved, the PCR court properly denied Petitioner's application because Petitioner can show no ineffective assistance of counsel or prejudice as a result of counsel's failure to object.**

Notwithstanding any preservation concerns, Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof in this regard as Petitioner can show no ineffective assistance of counsel or prejudice as a result of counsel's failure to object. As the PCR court noted in Alford, the United States Supreme court recognized the right of someone who is accused of a crime to negotiate with the State. (App.p.109). If an Alford plea is entered, the defendant tells the court he is not guilty but that he wants to plead guilty to get the benefit of a deal. (App.p.109). The defendant is sentenced as if he

had admitted guilt (App.p.109). Here, Petitioner was pleading guilty pursuant to a negotiated plea to fifteen years concurrent to both charges. However, when the solicitor read the facts of the case the Petitioner did not agree with them. (App.p.108). The plea judge then decided to take Petitioner plea pursuant to Alford. Petitioner was allowed to plead without professing guilt. As the PCR court correctly noted Petitioner wanted to plead guilty to get the benefit of a very good sentencing deal. (App.p.109). Accordingly, while this issue is not preserved for appellate review, plea counsel effectively secured the benefit of the bargain by not objecting to the plea court's shift to an Alford plea. Petitioner has failed to show plea counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the plea court's sua sponte decision to shift the plea from a straight guilty plea to a plea made pursuant to North Carolina v. Alford without consultation with the parties. Because he got the benefit of the bargain of this deal, Petitioner also failed to show he suffered any prejudice.

**IV. Even if preserved, the PCR court properly denied Petitioner's application because Petitioner can show no ineffective assistance of counsel or prejudice as a result of counsel's failure to object.**

Notwithstanding, any preservation concerns, Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof in this regard as Petitioner can show no ineffective assistance of counsel or prejudice as a result of counsel's failure to object. As previously noted, the PCR judge found Petitioner was ignorant as to what an Alford plea was. (App.p.109). However, Petitioner received the exact plea bargain he sought. (App.p.109). Plea counsel testified he explained to Petitioner the sentencing range for voluntary manslaughter. (App.p.77-78). Plea counsel testified he never told Petitioner he was pleading guilty to involuntary manslaughter and that Petitioner ultimately agreed to take the plea. (App.p.78). Additionally, plea counsel testified Petitioner signed the sentencing sheet which indicted voluntary manslaughter. Moreover, Petitioner's plea deal was a negotiated sentence and the duration of the sentence would not have changed regardless if the guilty plea was a straight

plea or an Alford plea. Plea counsel effectively represented Petitioner by not jeopardizing the plea with objections to the court's proper questions. Accordingly, while this issue is not preserved for appellate review, Petitioner has failed to show plea counsel was ineffective for failing to object to what he describes as the plea court's persistent, repetitive, and inappropriate questioning of the Petitioner in a clear attempt to get the Petitioner to change his responses. Similarly, Petitioner has failed to show he suffered any prejudice.

**V. Even if preserved, the PCR court properly denied Petitioner's application because there was no evidence the case would have been dismissed with prejudice.**

Notwithstanding any preservation concerns, Petitioner has still failed to meet his burden of proof that the PCR judge erred in this regard. Here, plea counsel testified that once the trial began, he discovered that the state had not produced some photographs that should have been produced during discovery (App.p.108). He testified that based on this mistake he saw an opportunity to get a pretty good plea deal or get a mistrial. (App.p.108). The PCR court found there was no evidence the case would have been dismissed with prejudice for discovery abuse. (App.p.108). Moreover, while plea counsel could have made a motion for a mistrial, he did not make that motion because he saw an opportunity to get a good plea deal for his client. Plea counsel testified considering the fact this was a murder case for which Petitioner was looking at thirty years to life and he felt there was a very good chance Petitioner would get convicted, he thought this was a good plea to take. (App.p.77). The PCR judge found plea counsel performed extremely effectively in securing this deal for the Petitioner. (App.p.109). The PCR court went on to note when it became apparent that the State had not complied with discovery rules, counsel saw and took advantage of the opportunity to get a good result for his client and concluded that plea counsel would have been ineffective if he had not sought this deal for the Petitioner.

(App.p.109). Additionally, Petitioner's argument that plea counsel could have made a subsequent motion barring prosecution pursuant to double jeopardy is without merit as the PCR judge concluded a mistrial may not have been granted. Additionally, the state omission of the photographs was not meant to goad Petitioner. The Double Jeopardy Clauses of the United States and South Carolina Constitutions protect citizens from being twice placed in jeopardy of life or liberty. See U.S. Const. amend. V; S.C. Const. art. I, § 12; Harden v. State, 360 S.C. 405, 410, 602 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2004) (citation omitted). "Under the law of double jeopardy, a defendant may not be prosecuted for the same offense after an acquittal, a conviction, or an improvidently granted mistrial." State v. Coleman, 365 S.C. 258, 263, 616 S.E.2d 444, 446 (Ct.App.2005). "Prosecutorial conduct that might be viewed as harassment or overreaching, even if sufficient to justify a mistrial on defendant's motion ... does not bar retrial absent intent on the part of the prosecutor to subvert the protections afforded by the Double Jeopardy Clause." Oregon v. Kennedy, 456 U.S. 667 (1982). Hence, a properly granted mistrial poses no double jeopardy bar to a subsequent prosecution. "Only where the governmental conduct in question is intended to 'goad' the defendant into moving for a mistrial may a defendant raise the bar of double jeopardy to a second trial after having succeeded in aborting the first on his own motion." Id. at 676 ; see also State v. Mathis, 359 S.C. 450, 460, 597 S.E.2d 872, 877 (Ct.App.2004) (noting that a defendant who has moved for and been granted a mistrial may invoke the Double Jeopardy Clause to prevent a second prosecution when the prosecutor's conduct giving rise to the mistrial was intended to provoke him into moving for the mistrial). Hence, the determination of whether double jeopardy attaches depends upon whether the prosecutorial conduct was undertaken with the intent to subvert the Double Jeopardy Clause. State v. Coleman, 365 S.C. 258, 263, 616 S.E.2d 444, 447 (Ct.App.2005) (citation omitted). "The trial court's finding concerning the

prosecutor's intent is a factual one and will not be disturbed on appeal unless clearly erroneous.” Id. (citation omitted). Here, the state was not trying to provoke Petitioner and as such, a double jeopardy violation would not have flowed from this result. Accordingly, while this issue is not preserved for appellate review, Petitioner has failed to show plea counsel was ineffective for failing to make a motion for mistrial followed by a motion barring further prosecution pursuant to the US Constitutional bar against Double Jeopardy prior to advising his client to plead guilty. On the contrary, plea counsel was effective for securing the plea deal and not jeopardizing that deal by making objections on motions with no likelihood of success. Similarly, Petitioner has failed to show he suffered any prejudice.

**VI. There is evidence of probative value to support the PCR judge’s finding  
Petitioner was not entitled to an appeal of his guilty plea.**

There is evidence of probative value to support the PCR court’s finding Petitioner was not entitled to an appeal of his guilty plea. In a post-conviction relief action, an applicant has the burden of proving the allegations in his or her application. Rule 71.1(e), SCRCP; Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Here, Petitioner alleges he wanted to appeal his guilty plea. The PCR court found credible plea counsel’s testimony that he did not recall Petitioner asking him to appeal his guilty plea and also found credible plea counsel testimony that if Petitioner had asked him to appeal, he would have filed an appeal. (App.p.111). The PCR court concluded since plea counsel did not file an appeal, Petitioner did not ask him to do so. (App.p.111)

The United States Supreme Court has rejected a “bright-line rule that counsel must always consult with the defendant regarding an appeal.” Roe v. Flores-Ortega, 528 U.S. 470, 480, 120 S. Ct. 1029, 1036, 145 L. Ed. 2d 985 (2000). They instead held that “counsel has a constitutionally imposed duty to consult with the defendant about an appeal when there is reason to think either

(1) that a rational defendant would want to appeal (for example, because there are nonfrivolous grounds for appeal), or (2) that this particular defendant reasonably demonstrated to counsel that he was interested in appealing.” Id. “[A]lthough not determinative, a highly relevant factor in this inquiry will be whether the conviction follows a trial or a guilty plea, both because a guilty plea reduces the scope of potentially appealable issues and because such a plea may indicate that the defendant seeks an end to judicial proceedings.” Id. Here, Petitioner argues that he wanted to appeal after his plea was entered. (App.p.111). However, plea counsel testified had Petitioner asked him to appeal his guilty plea he would have. (App.p.82). Because, there is evidence of probative value to support the PCR court’s finding Petitioner did not request an appeal, he was not entitled to an appeal of his guilty plea and the PCR was properly denied.

**CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, the Petition should be denied. Should this Court grant the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, Respondent requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.